\mathbf{FILED}

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 18 1991

	CLERK, SUPREME COURT
ROBERT LACY PARKER,	By Chief Deputy Clerk
Appellant,	Chief Deputy Cherk
apperium,) CASE NO. 63,700
vs.)
STATE OF FLORIDA,) (On Remand From United) States Supreme Court)
Appellee.	

BRIEF OF APPELLANT ROBERT LACY PARKER

JONATHAN C. KOCH Fla. Bar #364525 LORA J. SMELTZLY Fla. Bar #706116 Holland & Knight Post Office Box 1288 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 227-8500

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Can a trial judge's override of the jury's recommended life sentence be sustained under the standard of <u>Tedder v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975), and its progeny, where the record of the trial and sentencing hearing contains copious and substantial evidence of mitigating circumstances?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves only one issue. Appellant Robert Lacy Parker challenges the validity of his death sentence pursuant to Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975), and its progeny. Parker's death sentence was imposed by Judge R. Hudson Olliff for the murder of Nancy Sheppard in 1982. (App. 1) In his sentencing order, Judge Olliff found six statutory aggravating factors and no statutory mitigating factors, and overrode a jury recommendation of life imprisonment.

The death sentence was affirmed in Parker's initial direct appeal, despite the disallowance by this Court of two aggravating factors. Parker v. State, 458 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1984) (App. 2). Neither the trial court's sentencing order nor this Court's original opinion on direct appeal specifically discussed the substantial evidence of non-statutory mitigating factors presented at trial and sentencing.

A federal habeas corpus proceeding eventually resulted in a remand of this case by the United States Supreme Court for a new direct appeal on the Tedder/jury override issue. Parker_v.
Dugger, 498 U.S. _____, 111 S. Ct. 731, 112 L. Ed. 2d 812 (1991)
(App. 5). Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254, the Supreme Court determined that the trial court found non-statutory mitigating factors established during trial and at sentencing. The Supreme

¹The Court held that the murder was not "especially heinous, atrocious and cruel" and that it was not committed during a robbery, and disallowed those two aggravating factors. <u>Parker V. State</u>, 458 So.2d at 754 (App. 2).

Court also concluded that this Court's opinion in Parker's original appeal was based upon the erroneous factual conclusion that no nonstatutory mitigating factors were found by the trial court below, that this Court did not conduct an independent review to determine whether such factors were supported by the evidence below, and that the affirmance of his sentence violated the Eighth Amendment as a result.

A plenary review of the entire record of Parker's trial and sentencing hearings and a reconsideration of his sentence based upon the non-statutory mitigating factors established at trial and sentencing are the purpose of this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Guilt Phase: Undisputed Facts

The jury which recommended Robert Parker's life sentence heard contested evidence on many points. The following facts, however, were undisputed.²

On the morning of Friday, February 5, 1982, appellant Robert Parker provided a gram of phencyclidine (or "PCP"), a controlled substance referred to during the trial as "T," to Tommy Groover (T.1817). Groover was to sell the T at a profit and then pay Parker after the sale, keeping the profit for himself (T.1813-4). Groover, Richard Padgett and another acquaintance then consumed the T (T.1128-9, 1140). This made Parker upset with Groover, because he was concerned that Groover would not be able to pay him back for the T (T.1817). Padgett told Groover that he would give him some T of his own later that evening (T.1141). The next day, appellant Parker went to the residence of Billy Long, where Groover was living (T.1182, 1334-5). Groover and Long were going out to try to collect money that was owed to them for drugs that the two of them had sold (T.1361). Groover was armed with a shotgun (T.1212). Long and Groover went looking for Padgett (T.1361-78, 1686-7). That evening, Groover and Long met up with Padgett and his girlfriend, Nancy Sheppard, at The Sugar Shack, a local topless bar (T.1245-6). They all proceeded to the mobile

²The references herein are to the original appellate record in this case. Trial transcript references are abbreviated: "(T.__)". References to other parts of the original record are abbreviated: "(R.__)". Appellant has filed a separate appendix for this appeal; references to it are abbreviated: "(App.___)".

home where Robert and Elaine Parker (Robert's ex-wife) were living, picked up the Parkers, and returned to the Sugar Shack (T.1387-92). Long took Nancy Sheppard home and dropped her off (T.1249-52).

Later that night, a witness observed Groover beating up
Padgett at a junkyard owned by Parker's parents (T.1457-8, 14689). Parker came to the witness' door and asked for a wash cloth
to care for Padgett, who was bleeding (T.1469-70). Groover was
heard arguing with Padgett, and was seen with a gun in his hand
as he left the witness' premises (T.1470-3). Parker was unarmed
(T.1471-2). Padgett was killed soon thereafter. Shortly after
midnight, another witness observed Groover and Parker melting
down a gun at the junkyard (T.1482-4). This witness noticed that
Groover had something stuck in his pants off to one side, covered
by his shirt (T.1497-8).

Groover asked Elaine and Robert Parker to take him to another bar, where Groover met a girlfriend, Jody Dalton (T.1851-2, 1341-2). Dalton accompanied Groover and the Parkers to the Parkers' trailer. Dalton was dropped off there and Groover and the Parkers proceeded to pick up another friend, Joan Bennett (T.1853-6). They all returned to the Parkers' trailer, and then went to an area called Donut Lake (T.1512-3). Once at the lake, Groover kicked and beat Dalton, then pulled a gun from his boot and shot her (T.1518-19). Parker shouted "What are you doing you crazy m___f__?" (T.1559). Dalton's body was then tied to concrete blocks and sunk in the lake (T.956-985). As they left

the lake, Groover told Bennett that he would kill her if she said anything, and that he would have somebody kill her even if he was in jail (T.1563-4). Bennett was dropped off at her trailer (T.1564-5).

Groover and the Parkers then went to Billy Long's house and picked up Long (T.1252-5). While Groover drove Elaine's car, Long told Groover how to get to Sheppard's house (T.1253, 1402). Elaine went to Sheppard's door and got Sheppard to accompany them in the car (T.1869). Sheppard was taken to a wooded area, where she saw Padgett's body in a ditch (T.1260). Long then shot her (T.1410). Long threw her body into the ditch next to Padgett (T.1427-9).

The next day, Monday, a conversation between Groover and appellant Parker was overheard by a State witness. Groover stated that he (Groover) had cut Padgett's throat after Padgett was shot (T.1494). Groover was heard to say that he (Groover) had "made Billy Long shoot the girl" (T.1494). Robert Parker was heard telling Groover that he (Parker) did not know Padgett was going to be killed, and that he thought that Padgett was going to be left in the woods to walk home (T.1494).

Medical evidence showed that Padgett had been killed by a gunshot wound to the back of the head, and that he had also received two potentially fatal stab wounds to the chest and non-fatal slash wounds across his neck (T.1019-21). Dalton died of four gunshot wounds to the head (T.1058-66). Sheppard died from five gunshot wounds, two to the back of the head, one over the

eye, and two in the chest (T.1025-31). Sheppard also received seven non-fatal, superficial stab wounds to the neck (T.1029, 1032, 1049).

Throughout his long trial, no one ever said that Robert Parker killed anyone.

B. <u>Disputed Facts</u>

1. Defense Evidence.

Robert Parker testified that, though Groover did owe him money for the gram of T, Groover had given him a gold cross and necklace as collateral until he could pay him back, so he (Parker) was not concerned about getting his money (T.1826). Parker denied threatening Padgett or being angry with Padgett at all, because Groover, not Padgett, owed him money (T.1832-3). Because Groover and Padgett were arguing and beginning to fight in the car, the Parkers took them to Parker's parents' junkyard to let them fight (T.1838-40). Parker broke up the fight when Groover hit Padgett with brass knuckles (T.1840-1). Parker obtained assistance for Padgett, who was bleeding from the fight (T.1841-2). Parker testified that Groover told them that they should take Padgett out into the woods, drop him off, and let him walk home, because they would risk attack from Padgett's brothers and cousins if they took Padgett home in a beaten condition (T.1843-4). Elaine followed Groover's instructions and drove them into an isolated, wooded area (T.1844). Robert and Elaine remained in the car and Groover and Padgett got out (T.1844). They heard a gunshot, and Robert jumped out of the

car (T.1845). Parker then saw Padgett laying on the ground, and Groover attempting to shoot Padgett again, then stabbing him with his knife (T.1845-6). After killing Padgett, Groover told the Parkers to keep quiet about the murder or he would "get them" or "get their children" (T.1847-9). Parker melted down the murder weapon at his parents' junkyard, after observing that Groover had another pistol in his pants (T.1849-50).

Parker testified that he was unaware of any intention on Groover's part to kill Jody Dalton until, while at Donut Lake, Groover knocked her down, kicked her, pulled the pistol out of his boot and shot her (T.1860-1). Parker agreed that he shouted at Groover, but denied that he was concerned about the noise (T.1861-2). Parker said he was afraid of Groover, after having seen him kill two people, and that when Groover told him to tie concrete blocks to the body and take it into the lake, he did so (T.1863-4).

Parker testified that he and Elaine were hoping that Groover would leave them when he found Billy Long, but instead, Long joined them in the car (T.1866-7). Parker believed that Long was aware of Groover's plan when he got into the car (T.1868). Elaine went and got Nancy Sheppard to come out to the car upon Groover's orders (T.1869). Parker testified that once at the wooded area where Padgett had been killed, he (Parker) got out of the car only to let others get out behind him (T.1870). When Sheppard walked over to the ditch, she fell to her knees and Long walked over and shot her (T.1870). Parker

heard Groover tell Long to cut Sheppard's throat, then turned and got back in the car because he did not want to watch (T.1871).

2. State's Theory.

The State's case was based primarily upon the testimony of Billy Long and Joan Bennett, two of Parker's co-defendants.

Billy Long testified that Parker had threatened Padgett with a gun at Parker's mobile home (T.1391). Long said that Groover and Parker tricked him into going with them to Sheppard's house on the morning of her death by telling him that Padgett wanted to see Sheppard (T.1252-3, 1397-8). Long further claimed that appellant showed him the body of Padgett in the ditch and then ordered Long to kill Sheppard, or to "lay in the ditch with them" (T.1257, 1404). Long said that Elaine Parker then handed him a pistol and that he proceeded to shoot Sheppard (T.1260-1, 1410). Long said that appellant then obtained a knife from Groover and cut Sheppard's throat (T.1261, 1410-1). Long stated that Parker took Sheppard's necklace and class ring before Long threw her body into the ditch (T.1261, 1427-9). Long said that he was afraid of Robert Parker because Parker had shot him during an argument two years earlier (T.1257-9, 1336-8).

Joan Bennett testified that, on the way to Donut Lake,
Groover told Parker that he (Groover) was going to "waste" Jody
Dalton because "she had seen the piece that we used on Richard"
(T.1514). Bennett alleged that appellant agreed with Groover
(T.1551). Though Bennett confirmed that Parker shouted, "What
are you doing?" at Groover at the time Groover shot Dalton, she

added that Parker was only concerned about the noise (T.1519, 1559).

In summation, the State argued that Padgett was not killed for money, but that he was killed because Parker and Groover were afraid of Padgett's family, and had to silence Padgett (T.2130-1). The State argued that the Dalton and Sheppard murders were perpetrated to cover up the Padgett murder (T.2261).

3. <u>Defense Rebuttal</u>.

The credibility of Bennett and Long was vigorously attacked. It was shown that Bennett was allowed to plead guilty to accessory after the fact to first degree murder in exchange for her testimony for the State. Upon her agreement to testify for the State, she had been released from jail (T.1582-3). Long was charged with first degree murder in Sheppard's killing and had been facing prior, unrelated charges (which he admitted were valid) of sale and possession of methaqualone and sale and possession of cocaine. He was permitted to plead guilty to second degree murder, and the pre-existing drug charges were dismissed (T.1436-40). Though Long said that he killed Sheppard because he was afraid of Parker, he admitted that he did not see Parker with a gun at all that morning, and that appellant at no point said that he was armed (T.1418-20). Long was 6'2" tall, weighed 240 pounds, and had been employed as a bouncer at a local topless bar (T.1334, 1338). According to the police report at the time of his arrest, Parker was 5'10" and weighed approximately 190 pounds (R.1). Long had sworn to police that

Parker had forced him to shoot Sheppard by pointing a gun at him, but at trial, Long admitted that this was not true (T.95-7, 1414-7, 1417-21, 1424, 1432).

The defense also presented the testimony of several other jail inmates concerning statements made by Billy Long. One inmate heard Long talking to Groover and advising him "if you don't want to get the electric chair, you better do like I did and say Robert made you do it" (T.1749). Another jail inmate overhead Long boasting that he would lie to see to it that Robert Parker got the death penalty (T.1765). Long confided to this inmate that he, not Parker, had cut Sheppard's throat (T.1765). Long told this inmate that Parker was at the car at the time Sheppard was killed, and that only Long and Groover were outside the car with Sheppard (T.1766). Parker's version of the Sheppard homicide was further corroborated by statements Groover made to this same inmate, that Parker was back at the car when Sheppard was murdered, and had no active involvement in her death (T.1788). A third jail inmate also testified that Long told him that Long, not Parker, had cut Sheppard's throat (T.1799-1800).

2. Trial Court's Submission of Guilt Issue to Jury.

The indictment charged Robert Parker with first degree murder in the death of Richard Padgett in Count One, first degree murder in the death of Nancy Sheppard in Count Two, and first degree murder in the death of Jody Dalton in Count Three (R.133-4). At the charge conference, the State requested that the jury

be instructed on first degree felony murder as to both Count One and Count Two, arguing that the applicable felony in Count One was kidnapping and, in Count Two, robbery (of Sheppard's necklace and ring) (T.2001-2). The defense objected to the felony murder instruction on the ground that it was not supported by the evidence, but the objection was overruled (T.2002-3).

The defense submitted an instruction concerning the common law defense of duress or coercion, but the requested instruction was denied (T.2087-90). The trial court ruled that the State's "duress is not a defense to homicide" instruction would be given without limiting its applicability in any manner (T.2096). This decision by the trial judge contradicted the defense theory of the case: throughout the trial, the defense contended before the jury that Parker acted under duress. The judge proceeded to charge the jury in the words proposed by the State (T.2286).

In summation, the defense emphasized the undisputed fact that Robert Parker did not kill anyone (T.2191), and argued that he did not actively participate in the murder of Nancy Sheppard (T.2237).

The jury returned general verdicts finding the Defendant guilty of first degree murder in Count One (Padgett), first degree murder in Count Two (Sheppard), and third degree murder in Count Three (Dalton) (R.409-11).

C. <u>Penalty Phase</u>.

The only evidence presented by the State in aggravation consisted of a judgment showing appellant Parker had been

convicted of aggravated battery in the shooting of Billy Long in 1980 (T.2314-7).

The defense presented testimony from a number of Parker's relatives and friends (T.2318-2365). This evidence showed that he was raised by an alcoholic, wife-beating father, and was influenced by Elaine, an older woman, to leave school after the ninth grade and to use illegal drugs. Despite these problems, the evidence showed that Parker was a good father to his two young children, then aged nine and eleven, and that he had unselfishly assisted relatives and neighbors in times of personal crisis and need.

The defense also presented the written negotiated plea agreement of Elaine Parker, in which the State had dropped two first degree murder charges and reduced the murder of Nancy Sheppard from first degree to second degree, in exchange for a guilty plea and her promise to testify for the State (T.2366). Despite this agreement, the State did not call Elaine Parker as a witness, because she could not rebut appellant's testimony (T.2053-4, 2056-8).

The defense also introduced documents showing that Tommy Groover had previously been convicted of three counts of first degree murder, and that the trial court had sentenced Groover to death for the murders of Padgett and Dalton, and to life imprisonment for the Sheppard murder (T.2377-8).

The State presented no rebuttal evidence.

The jury was given a specific verdict form and found that sufficient mitigating circumstances existed to outweigh any aggravating circumstances. Therefore, they recommended a sentence of life imprisonment as to both the Padgett and Sheppard murders (R.434-5).

At the final sentencing hearing before the court, the State, over objection, presented the testimony of relatives of Richard Padgett and Nancy Sheppard, in which they described the decedents in sympathetic terms and asked the court to impose the death penalty (T.2533-51). The defense presented no additional evidence and, after hearing argument, the court imposed a life sentence for the Padgett homicide, a death sentence for the Sheppard homicide, and a term of fifteen years imprisonment for the Dalton homicide (R.476-508). The sentencing order is replete with factual errors, including a description of the Padgett homicide that is without any evidentiary basis whatsoever, and a description of the Dalton homicide that requires the acceptance of Joan Bennett's testimony, despite its obvious rejection by

The recommendation of the death penalty by the victims' relatives violated the Constitution. Payne v. Tennessee,
U.S. ___, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 2611 n.2, ___, L.Ed.2d ___ (1991);
Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987).

⁴The trial judge in appellant's case had previously conducted the separate trial of Tommy Groover. Examination of the sentencing orders from the two cases, in comparison with the evidence at Parker's trial, establishes that the judge carried evidence presented at Groover's trial over into Parker's sentencing. This error violated Parker's constitutional right to confront all the evidence against him at sentencing. Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349, 97 S.Ct. 1197, 51 L.Ed.2d 393 (1977); Engle v. State, 438 So.2d 803, 814 (Fla. 1983).

the jury.⁵ The court found six aggravating circumstances and no statutory mitigating circumstances for either the Sheppard and Padgett homicides, but imposed the death sentence only for the Sheppard murder. Nowhere in the sentencing order did the trial judge specifically discuss the evidence of non-statutory mitigating circumstances (R.476-508). However, every federal court which has addressed the issue has found that non-statutory mitigating factors were established by the evidence at trial and sentencing. The United States Supreme Court found that the trial court considered this evidence at sentencing. The issue here is whether he considered it correctly.

⁵The jury only convicted Parker of third degree murder in Dalton's case, despite Bennett's testimony that Parker agreed with Groover that Dalton should be killed in the car on the way to Donut Lake. Parker denied that this conversation occurred, and the jury must have accepted his testimony that he was surprised when Dalton was killed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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