SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 13 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

ROBERT LACY PARKER,)
Appellant,)

V.)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.)

CASE NO. 63,700

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The United States Supreme Court remanded this case because it could not tell whether this Court's "Tedder" analysis violated Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978). We submit that by the time this case was decided (in 1984) this Court was aware of, and applying, the six year old Lockett decision. No inference of noncompliance should flow from a "silent" opinion.

This Court can satisfy the remand by any "appropriate" proceeding. The Court can advise the Supreme Court that Lockett evidence was considered (whether it was discussed or not) or the Court can grant Parker a new appeal.

If Parker's appeal is reconsidered, there is no question that the override in this case is well supported by the evidence and therefore under a <u>Tedder</u> analysis, no reasonable jury could conclude life was the appropriate sentence.

ARGUMENT: POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT TO DEATH DESPITE THE SUGGESTION OF THE ADVISORY JURY

(A) SCOPE OF REVIEW

In an effort to limit the scope of review, Parker suggests that the only issue before this Court is <u>de novo</u> review of his sentence of death. The Appellant's desire to limit the scope of this appeal stems in large measure from his inability to rebut or deny the fact that this case is before the Court due to the United States Supreme Court's decision to obtain clarification of a "silent" decision applying state law to proffered evidence.

The majority opinion in <u>Parker v. Dugger</u>, 498 U.S. ____, 112 L.Ed.2d 812, 111 S.Ct. 731 (1991) combined a speculative and almost "unprecedented" reconstruction of a silent record (see White, J., dissenting at 740-1) with two significant errors to create a remand on an issue (the quality of appellate review) not squarely argued by the parties.

The then-extant majority found that this Court's "failure" to discuss nonstatutory mitigating evidence in the written opinion meant that this Court failed to review nonstatutory mitigating evidence as required by Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978).Parker, supra, at 112 L.Ed.2d at 826-827. To support assumption, the Supreme Court discussed nonstatutory mitigating evidence that the trial judge "must have considered," and concluded that this Court's silence "meant" failure to consider that same evidence. Parker, supra, L.Ed.2d at 827.

The error committed in the majority opinion is painfully As this Court held in the contemporaneous case of obvious. Jackson v. State, 452 So.2d 533 (Fla.1984), the mere silence of an opinion regarding any particular issue presented to this Court does not mean that the issue was not considered. Furthermore, this Court reviews the entire record in every capital case. State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla.1973); Brown v. Wainwright, 392 So.2d 1327 (Fla.1981). Finally, Lockett was published in 1978 and was clearly known to this Court by 1984. It is "incredible" [Spaziano v. Dugger, 557 So.2d 1372 (Fla.1990)] to assume that a court that was familiar with Lockett would ignore its obligation to review nonstatutory mitigating evidence. Accord: Dugger, 512 So.2d 829 (Fla.1987); Harich v. State, 542 So.2d 90 (Fla.1989) (no Lockett error presumed from silent order). Spaziano v. State, 433 So.2d 508 (Fla.1983); Francis v. State, 473 So.2d 672 (Fla.1985).

Even if one might suspect pure <u>Lockett</u> error, the United States Supreme Court's assumption also presumes this Court's noncompliance with § 921.141, Fla. Stat., (plenary review) and §§ 59.041 and 924.33, Fla. Stat., (harmless error review). Again, there is no authority for such an incredible assumption. It is simply illogical to assume that this Court, in this one

Oddly, in Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982), the Supreme Court held that a mere "silent opinion" would not establish Lockett error. Accord: Funchess v. Wainwright, 772 F.2d 683 (11th Cir. 1985); Johnson v. Wainwright, 806 F.2d 1479 (11th Cir.1986).

case out of the hundreds of capital cases reviewed since 1972, suddenly ignored the law and rushed to judgment.

The Supreme Court also looked to its interpretation of "Florida practice" in remanding the case. In doing so, the United States Supreme Court observed that this Court "usually" remands override cases for resentencing when an aggravating factor is stricken on appeal. This observation, if intended as a federal finding of state "law," is not necessarily accurate.4 More to the point, however, is the fact that state court compliance with state "custom" or "usual practice" does not raise a federal constitutional question. Wainwright v. Goode, 464 U.S. 78 (1983); Harris v. Pulley, 465 U.S. 37, 41 (1984). Even if the Supreme Court felt that this Court misapplied an actual state sentencing law, it would have no power to "correct" the decision. Gryger v. Burke, 334 U.S. 728 (1948); <u>Lewis v. Jeffers</u>, ____ U.S. , 111 L.Ed.2d 606 (1990). Estelle v. McGuire, ___ U.S. (1991), Case No. 90-1074. The United States Supreme Court held that it will not compel the drafting of an expository opinion on a state court's application of state law, see La Vallee v. Della Rose, 410 U.S. 690 (1973); Sims v. Georgia, 385 U.S. 38 (1967), and will not substitute its judgment even if it disagrees with this Court's application of Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908

A decision to remand <u>any</u> capital case is dependent upon this Court's ability to ascertain harmless error following disallowance of an aggravating factor. <u>See Pentecost v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 861 (Fla.1989); <u>Zeigler v. State</u>, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla.1991). <u>Torres-Arboledo v. State</u>, 524 So.2d 403 (Fla.1988); <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 553 So.2d 153 (Fla.1989).

(Fla.1975). Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984). Estelle v. McGuire, supra.

Just as the United States Supreme Court cannot assume that this Court failed to abide by state law, it is also evident that the United States Supreme Court has not ignored prior decisions in setting the scope of this remand.⁵

A new plenary appeal is not required <u>unless</u> this Court concludes that in 1984 the Court failed to adhere to the tenets of <u>Lockett</u>, <u>supra</u>, and established Florida law.

The United States Supreme Court did not find that the death sentence at bar was inappropriate. The court also declined to suggest or direct any particular result following any "appropriate proceeding." Parker, supra, at 112 L.Ed.2d at 827. The United States Supreme Court was not concerned with the nature of the sentence imposed, but rather, questioned whether the procedures employed comport with constitutional mandates. See Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. ___, L.Ed.2d 725, 110 S.Ct. 1441 (1990).

Therefore, a new plenary appeal is not warranted if this Court advises the United States Supreme Court that an independent appellate review pursuant to Lockett was considered in this Court's review at the time of Parker's 1984 appeal. Moreover, the entire record was reviewed pursuant to Brown v. Wainwright, supra, in sustaining the override. A determination that Parker's

In <u>Santos v. State</u>, ___ So.2d ___, (Fla.1991), 16 F.L.W. S634, this court acknowledged the scope of remand in <u>Parker</u>, <u>supra</u>, ("...remanded for new consideration that more fully weighed the available mitigating evidence...").

death sentence is appropriate based on a review of the record before the Court will satisfy the full scope of the United States Supreme Court's mandate.

(B) THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN IMPOSING A SENTENCE OF DEATH

The facts have not changed since Parker's original sentence of death was reviewed and the override upheld pursuant to Tedder
v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla.1975) and § 921.141, Fla. Stat.6

Parker suggests that the jury's recommendation is virtually binding under <u>Tedder</u>, <u>id</u>. Parker's position is undermined by several factors; to wit:

- (1) Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla.1975) is a declaration of judicial policy relating to the standard of review, not law per se. While great weight must be given to the voice of the community, that voice must be rational pursuant to the Tedder standard.
- (2) Pursuant to § 921.141(3), Fla. Stat., the trial judge may impose any appropriate sentence "notwithstanding" the jury's suggestion. No sentence can ever be imposed without the trial court, the sentencer, sentencing with written findings.
- (3) Neither the United States Constitution nor Florida's death penalty statute require jury sentencing. Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984); Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. ____, 104 L.Ed.2d 728 (1989). In fact, the United States Constitution does not obligate advisory juries to announce their findings in aggravation or mitigation. Hildwin, id.

The Supreme Court cited to this Court's decision in <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla.1990), signifying its concern that the scope of review in 1984 was not fully articulated. <u>Parker</u>, supra, 112 L.Ed.2d at 824.

It can hardly be suggested that jury recommendations are "vital." They do not rise to the dignity of a statutory aggravating factor (when the suggestion is "death") and no explanation is required for either a death or life recommendation. Hildwin, id. 7

The jury's advisory opinion in this case, as this Court has already determined, was clearly one with which no reasonable person could agree (under <u>Tedder</u>) and is clearly contrary to the evidence (under the statute). The trial court did, however, review the aggravating and mitigating factors applicable and concluded that death was appropriate per a <u>Tedder</u> analysis.

When this Court reviews the sufficiency of the record in ascertaining the appropriateness of the sentence of death, it does not engage in second-guessing the sentence imposed. Hudson v. State, 538 So.2d 829 (Fla.1989); Brown v. Wainwright, 392 So.2d 1327 (Fla.1981). The Court does, however, conduct a harmless error analysis when necessary and in particular when an aggravating factor relied upon by the sentencer is disallowed. Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla.1981). Pettit v. State, Case No. 75,565, F.L.W. , (decided January 9, 1992).

(1) Aggravating Factors

The sentencer relied upon six statutory aggravating factors in sentencing Parker to death. Four of these factors are undisputed and warrant little discussion. The four factors are:

It is also untrue that juries are superior sentencers. Historically, juries have been arbitrary and capricious, <u>Furman v. Georgia</u>, 408 U.S. 238 (1972) and even in the post-<u>Furman</u> era states using juries as sentencers have had problems which have not affected Florida. <u>See Maynard v. Cartwright</u>, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), <u>Smalley v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 740 (Fla.1989).

- (1) Parker had a prior conviction for aggravated battery stemming from an earlier shooting of Billy Long.
- (2) The Sheppard murder was committed to avoid lawful arrest.
- (3) The Sheppard murder was also committed for pecuniary gain (to help Parker's drug business).
- (4) The Sheppard murder was cold, calculated and premeditated and without pretense of legal or moral justification.

Two other statutory aggravating factors were applied by the trial court but disallowed in Parker's first appeal. <u>Parker</u>, <u>supra</u>, 458 So.2d at 754. Since reconsideration of these factors will not result in the imposition of a harsher sentence, and since Parker has requested a "new" direct appeal, these aggravating factors are once again subject to review.

The trial judge applied §§ 921.141 (5)(d), Fla. Stat., (murder during a specific felony) as an aggravating factor but erred in applying "robbery" as the specific felony. Thus, the judge reached the correct result for the wrong reason. Savage v. State, 156 So.2d 566 (Fla.1st DCA 1963). This Court can, on appeal, recognize the correct aggravating factor and consider it as part of any analysis of "harmless error." Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla.1984).

While Parker did not kill Ms. Sheppard during a robbery, he did kill her during a kidnapping - another listed § 921.141 (5)(d), Fla. Stat., felony.

By statute (§ 787.01, Fla. Stat.), a kidnapping can be committed by force, by threat or by trick. Robinson v. State, 462 So.2d 471 (Fla.1st DCA 1984); see McCarter v. State, 463 So.2d 546 (Fla.5th DCA 1985). A kidnapping by trick involves

both the use of deceit to lure the victim into abduction and the subsequent asportation of the victim to a place where (she) is cut off from human contact or possible rescue. Robinson, supra.

Judge Olliff did not consider kidnapping under this third definition but clearly could have done so. <u>Echols</u>, <u>supra</u>. The conspirators devised a story to lure Ms. Sheppard into their car. Then, Sheppard was taken to a remote location and murdered. The Echols decision states:

"We cannot determine whether the trial judge overlooked this fourth aggravating factor or was uncertain as to whether crimes committed concurrently with the capital crime could be used in aggravation. However, we note its presence in accordance with our responsibility to review the entire record in death penalty cases and the well established appellate rule that all evidence and matters appearing in the record should be considered which support the trial court's decision."

Echols, supra, at 576.8

The trial judge also considered this murder especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. He was correct in doing so, for the murder of Nancy Sheppard was shockingly wicked and evil, it was unnecessarily torturous to the victim and it was done in a manner that was purely sadistic.

If Parker wanted to execute a potential witness, he could have taken Ms. Sheppard anywhere and shot her. Parker, however, elected to subject Ms. Sheppard to as much anguish as possible. To the sadistic amusement of Parker and his cohorts, Ms. Sheppard

 $^{^{8}}$ Kidnapping can be considered even though it was not charged. Ruffin v. State, 397 So.2d 277 (Fla.1981).

⁹ Hereafter, abbreviated as "H-A-C."

was taken to Padgett's dead body in the middle of the night. She was shot as she cried in pathetic anguish and then her throat was slit by Parker.

This murder compares with Melendez v. State, 498 So.2d 1258 (Fla.1986), where the H-A-C factor was upheld when the robbery victim, a barber, was shot and then had his throat cut. This murder also compares with Gaskins v. State, 16 F.L.W. S669 (Fla.1991), in which an H-A-C finding was upheld in the presence of evidence that the victim saw her husband killed prior to her own execution. See also Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla.1982); Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla.1983); Harvard v. State, 414 So.2d 1032 (Fla.1982).

The record evidence exists to support these findings by the sentencer and must be acknowledged as part of the process of appellate review. Shapiro v. State, 390 So.2d 344 (Fla.1980); Spinkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666 (Fla.1975). Therefore, it is submitted that the statutory aggravating circumstances found by the sentencer but disallowed on direct appeal, be reinstated as valid statutory aggravating factors.

(2) Mitigating Factors

The trial judge, as actual sentencer, found no mitigating factors sufficient to outweigh any of the aggravating factors at bar. The United States Supreme Court, after concluding that the trial judge considered all of Parker's nonstatutory mitigating evidence, specifically found no error by the trial judge. Parker v. Dugger, supra, 112 L.Ed.2d at 822.

Unless this Court singled out Parker's case as the "only post-Lockett case" in which the entire record was not reviewed, the issue of how much weight Parker's "mitigating evidence" carries is essentially moot. The evidence is incapable of justifying the jury's recommendation.

Parker's entire brief is based upon the assumption that the mere presence of mitigating evidence compels affirmance of a life recommendation. This clearly is not the law. Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla.1991). Notwithstanding the nonbinding suggestion of the jury, the judge must pass sentence on the basis of evidentiary weight. § 921.141, Fla. Stat.; Zeigler, supra.

Parker lists purported "mitigating" factors and then offers jury argument regarding the weight to be afforded each. The trial judge's decision regarding the mitigating evidence's weight enjoys record support. As such, it must be affirmed just like any other discretionary decision. Pope v. State, 441 So.2d 1073 (Fla.1983).

With these factors in mind, Parker's mitigating evidence is wanting.

(A) "Domination by Groover"

It is virtually beyond dispute that Parker was the leader of a small-time drug business and that he dominated Tommy Groover. At all times relevant to this case, Groover was collecting money for Parker (R 1244) out of fear that Parker would kill or injure him. (R 1131, 1141, 1177, 1179). Groover was scared of Parker. (R 1244, 1178). Even when Groover was armed, he was obedient to Parker. (R 1182, 1241). The record is devoid of any instances

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